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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The First Unitarian Church of Baltimore is located on the
northwest corner of Charles and Franklin Streets; its main en-
trance is on the southern, or Franklin Street, side.

The church is essentially a domed cube 108 feet long
(north-south) and 78 feet wide (east-west). The dome is 55
feet in diameter. The walls are of brick and stone masonry
covered with stucco.

Ornamenting the church's facade is a shallow, pedlmented
portico carried by an arcade formed of three arches on Tuscan
columns. The pediment is decorated with a terra-cotta figure
representing The Angel of Truth appearing from clouds and a
sunburst. The flgure holds a scroll containing a Greek in-~
scription which in translation says: "To the only God." The
original sculpture was the work of Antonia Capellano. The
sculpture now in the pediment (June, 1971) is a copy of the
Capellano piece made in 1959-60 by Baltimore sculptor Henry
Berge. The head of the original is preserved in the church's
Heritage Room.

The porch formed beneath the portico is vaulted, and it
contains five doors of bronzed wood. Tuscan pllasters stand
between the doors. The entablature of the portico continues,
unbroken, entirely around the building. Thus, on the side and
rear walls, the entablature assumes the nature of a cornice
and glves the building the illusion of being of two stories:

a main, or ground, story and an attic. A secondary cornice
and large rectangular recesses form the only decorations on
the attic planes.

Below the attic, each side (i.e., east and west) wall of
the "main story" contains three tall stained glass windows in
arched niches. The windows on the west side are blind. Each
side also contains, located between the group of three windows
and the southern corner, a recessed arched niche of the same
proportions as the windows.

. In plan, the auditorium of the church is a square with
53-foot sides. Originally the underside of the dome that
crowns the church was visible from the pews beneath. Because
of accoustical deficiencies, however, a corrective barrel
vault was installed in 1893 by the well-known Baltimore
architect J. E. Sperryy’ The vault, coffered and decorated with
elaborate rosettes, now totally obscures the original dome.

The interior space is divided (north-south) into a nave
and two side aisles by arcades that echo the arched windows -
of the exterior. The nave, or central aisle leads north to
a raised, 15-foot-deep chancel which has an arched, coffered
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Although it was not the first American church to adopt
a litany which was Unitarian in nature--Boston's King's
Chapel claims that distinction--Baltimore's First Unitarian
Church played a highly significant role in the development
of Unitarianism in the United States, for it was there that
American Unitarianism was given its first formal definition.

That definition came in a sermon delivered on May 5, 1819,
by the Reverend Dr. William Ellery/Channing, of Boston, on
the occasion of the ordination of the Baltimore congregation's
first minister, Jared Sparks. .In his landmark sermon--known
to historians as "The Baltimgfe Sermon"--Dr. Channing pro-
claimed the principles which gave early Unitarian thought in
this country cohesiveness and a basis from which to grow and
evolve. Among the essential principles he espoused were
these: the Bible is a book written for men, and it can be
understood by the exercise of reason; Jesus Christ is distinct
from the one God; God is infinitely good, kind and benevolent;
and, all virtue has its foundations in man's own morality,
conscience and sense of duty.

The Baltimore church was in its infancy when Dr. Channing
delivered his sermon. It had been founded only in 1817 by
a group of prominent Baltimoreans (many of them of New England
extraction) who had been inspired to their actigh by three
sermons preached in October, 1816, by James Fréeman, the
Boston minister who had converted that city's Episcopal King's
Chapel to Unitarianism in 1784.

Mr, Freeman delivered his three Baltimore addresses in
a dance hall. His Baltimore followers were determined that
a far more suitable and impressive edifice would house the
church which they established as a result of those addresses.
To accomplish their pugposes they commissioned the French
emigré Maximilian Gogéfroy (c.1765-c.1845). Godefroy had de-
signed Baltimore's St. Mary's Seminary Chapel (1806), one of
the first Gothic Revival churches in the country, and the
highly eclectic Battle Monument, which honors the memory of
the men who defended Baltimore at the Battle of North Point
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#6. REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS continued

Maryland Register of historic. sites and landmarks, |

State 1969
-
Maryland Historical Trust - A
94 College Avenue N
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 Code: 24

Commission for Historic and Architectural Preservation

Local 1969

Commission for Historic & Architectural Preservation
402 City Hall
Baltimore, Maryland 21201 Code: 24

#7. DESCRIPTION continued

gwullng Over the altar is.4 mosaic of the Last Supper, designed
in 1879 by Frederick Wilsoh, of New York City, and manufactured
by the Tiffany Glass Decorating Company. Above it is an arched
stained-glass window, also made by Tiffany.

An organ loft is against the opposite (south) wall. It is
supported "by columns similar to those that carry the entrance
portico.

The present altar is the original pulpit--designed, as were
most of the other original furnlshlngs, by Maximilian Godefroy,
architect of the. bulldlng It is of Verd Antique and Carrara
marble. Its cast lead and bronze ‘ornaments were executed by
Capellano. -

T -
*

An iron fence of Baltimore manufacture delineates a shallow
entrance court between the portico and the sidewa ong
Franklin Street. The cupola that originally ro f¥om tHe center
of the dome was destroyed during a storm in 19 @%’ O%pgmwlseq
the exterior of the church retains its origin tya &nce.lwﬁ

o WG i
:j !,\U ¢ (.}
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#8. SIGNIFICANCE continued
in 1814. During his earliest years in Baltimore, he was employed

as instructor of civil and military architecture and fine arts

at St. Mary's. According to Richard Hubbard Howland and

Eleanor Patterson Spencer, his position at that institution marks
him as the first professional teacher of architecture in Balti-
more, perhaps in the United States.

As did the work of his contemporary and friend, B. H.
Latrobe, Godefroy's Unitarian Church represented a departure from
the late Georgian and early Neo-Classical styles of architecture
familiar to Baltimoreans of the first decades of the 19th
century. Instead of dealing with surfaces and applied ornament,
Godefroy concerned himself with mass and the interplay ‘of geo-
meErlc forms--the cube and the’ hemisphere in the case of the
First Unitarian Church, which is considered his most important
bulldlng. His spatial concepts have been likened by Robeért L.
Alexander to those of the French visionary architect Claude-
Nicolas Ledoux, and his style-~-especially as exemplified by the
First Unitarian Church--has been cited by Howland and Spencer as
contributing, with the works of Latrobe, Robert Mills and Robert
Cary Long, Sr., to a ". . . Baltimore architecture during the
first third of the nineteenth century [which] has a definite and
individual look that emphasizes the_geometric aspects of solids
and voids, rather than decoration.'

The only non-architectural. decoration on thé<g§%erior
reproduction of a terra cotta ulpture of Thegéybeléé/igiﬁx
originally executed by Anto Capellano, sculpt Li8panishy
kings Charles IV and Joseph Napoleon. The sc-@¥t$§@JQQ§£&§§g§
the pediment of the entrance portico. - e

The interior of the church is ornamented ¥ikh nABye
portraylng thée Last Supper. Manufactured by Tha@MfTany Glass
Decorating Company, of New York, it contairs 64, c%WQ /piedgs ¢
Favrile glass. It was. 1nstalled in 1897 The nearly
circular window above the altar and the six stained-glass side
windows wWere also products of the Tiffany studios. Together
they represent an artistic style and taste far different from,

yet compatible with, those prevalent during Godefroy's time.

TRichard H. Howland and Eleanor P. Spencer, The Architecture oﬂ

Baltimore A Pictorial History, (Baltimore: 1953), 43-44.
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#8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

The congregation of First Unitarian has included many promi-
nent Baltimoreans. Among them were: Henry Payson (1762-1845),
financier, member of the city council and judge of ‘the Orphans'
Court; John W. McCulloh, cashier of the Maryland branch of the
Bank of the United States and one of the principals in the Supreme
Court case McCulloh vs. Maryland; Tobias Watkins, M. D., Surgeon
General of the United States Navy; Charles Joseph Bonaparte,
great-nephew of Napoleon Bonaparte, Secretary of the Navy, and
Attorney General of the United States from 1906 to 1908; Enoch
Pratt (1808-1896),; philanthropist; and Rembrandt Peale (1778-1860)
painter and founder of the Baltimore Gas Lighting Company.

Since its earliest years the First Unitarian Church has
taken the concerns of the Baltimore community as its own. Some
examples of its early (but since defunct) programs of social
service include: sponsorship of The Boys' Guild, begun in 1888
as an institution to provide training for underprivileged boys;
operation of The Industrial School for Girls (begun in 1874) and
Channing House (begun in 1905), a settlement house located in a
crowded working area of the city.

In 1855 the First Unitarian Church announced its intentions
to remain in the inner city and refurbished its building. It
has since joined with other nearby downtown churches to form an
inner city ministerium that is still (June, 1971) in existence.

k9. REFERENCES continued

Researchers continued: . /

li \' ) 4
& 1 3\
Nancy Miller, Historian, Maryland Hlstorlcal Trus% A Qﬁgpllm
Maryland April 1970. p;‘ \n1‘5&1§ /
, P & /

James F. Waesche, Baltimore, Maryland. (Editor &‘w;lteryﬁ\
‘>\\)"

Sources:

Alexander, Robert L. "Architecture and Aristocracy: The Cos-
mopolitan Style of Latrobe and Godefroy." Maryland
Historical Magazine. LVI (September 1961), 229-243.

Craven, Wayne. Sculpture in America. New York: Thomas Y.
Crowell, 1968.
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#9. REFERENCES continued

Davidson, Carolina V. "Comments on the Text [of Godefroy's
resume of his life and work]." Maryland Historical Magazine.
XXIX (September 1934), 200-212.

Dictionary of American Biography. 20 vols. New York: Charles
Scribner's Sons, 1929-1935, II, 1IV,.VII, XV, WVII.

Funk, Rebecca, et. al. A Heritage to Hold in Fee 1817-1917
First Unitarian Church of Baltimore (Universalist and
Unitarian). Baltimore: Garramond Press, 1962.

Hamlin, Talbot. Greek Revival Architecture in America: Being an
Account of Important Trends 1in American Architecture and
American Life prior to the War Between the States. (reprint)
New York: Dover, 1944.

Hart, Richard H. Enoch Pratt The Story of a Plain Man.
Baltimore: Enoch Pratt Free Library, 1935.

History of Baltimore, Maryland, from Its Founding as a Town to
the Current Year 1729-1898 . . .. [Baltimore]: S. B.
Nelson, 1898. I

; e

Hitchcock, Henry-Russell. Architecture, Nineteenth;aﬁ&«
‘Twentieth Centuries. [Baltimore]: Penguin ﬁqokﬁ,ﬁgmcr;
1958. » o T

‘ HJ\)
Howland, Richard Hubbard and Eleanor Patterson’ SpeaniL,;The
Archltecture of Baltimore A Pictorial HistQry. BalEimore:

Johns Hopkins Press, 1953. /,'“3;;;//
Godefroy, Maximilian. [Resume of his life and his work].

Maryland Historical Magazine. XXIX (September 1934),
175-199. Maryland Historical Society.

Quinn, Dorothy MacKay. "Maximilian Godefroy and Eliza Godefroy."
Maryland Historical Magazine. LII (March 1957), 1-34.
Maryland Historical Society.

Scharf, J. Thomas. The Chronicles of Baltimore . . .. Baltimore:
Turnbull Brothers, 1874.

Scharf, J. Thomas. History of Baltimore City and County From the
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3

(4 of 5 continuation sheets)



MHT B-5

Form 10.300a UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR BTATH
(July 1969) "~ NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Marvland

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORICPLACES |counNTY

Baltimore City
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM R NPS USE ONLY

ENTRY NUMBER DATE

(Continuation Sheet) JF—

(Number all entries)

First Unitarian Church

#9. REFERENCES continued

Toker, Franklin. "James O'Donnell: An Irish Georgian in
America." Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians|
XXIX (May 1970), 132-140.

Waesche, James F. "City's Contribution to Unitarianism."
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